
[image: image1.png]AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRY

GROUP




6 June 2003

The Secretary

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations 

   and Financial Services 

Room SG.64

Parliament House

CANBERRA  2600

Dear Sir / Madam

Re. Inquiry into Australia’s Corporate Insolvency Laws

The Australian Industry Group (Ai Group) wishes to make a submission regarding the issues dealt with in the Committee’s Improving Australia’s Corporate Insolvency Laws Issues Paper – May 2003, concerning the protection of employees’ entitlements.

Ai Group is one of the largest national industry bodies in Australia, representing employers in the manufacturing, construction, automotive, information technology, telecommunications, labour hire and other industries. 

Ai Group’s involvement in the public debate over the security of employees’ entitlements

Ai Group has been heavily involved in the public debate over the most appropriate means of protecting employees’ entitlements. 

Over the past five years, our members in the manufacturing industry have been targeted during a costly and damaging Australian Manufacturing Workers Union (AMWU) campaign to establish a highly flawed union trust fund called Manusafe (recently renamed the National Entitlements Security Trust (NEST)). This campaign led to the Tristar and Walker disputes which stopped the automotive industry, at a cost of more than $500 million in lost sales, and damaged Australia’s international reputation as a reliable supplier. Another Ai Group member company – MainTrain – endured an eight week strike in August 2001 over the Manusafe claim. 

At the present time, the AMWU is again pressing to establish NEST via the re-negotiation of the large number of manufacturing industry enterprise agreement which expired in late March 2003. 

Given the level of industrial disputation which was occurring and being threatened in mid-2001, Ai Group urged the Federal Government to improve the level of protection for entitlements under the former Employee Entitlements Support Scheme (EESS) to reduce the level of concern amongst employees about the protection of their entitlements. We welcomed the Prime Minister’s announcement, in September 2001, of the introduction of the General Employee Entitlements and Redundancy Scheme (GEERS).

The success of GEERS and the need for the scheme to be enshrined within legislation

Ai Group strongly supports GEERS and we believe that the scheme has been very successful in allaying employee fears about the loss of their entitlements. 

However, now that the scheme has been in operation for over 18 months, we believe that it should be enshrined within legislation. This would negate consistent union criticism that the scheme is administrative in nature and could be amended or abolished at any time. 

If such legislation was introduced into Parliament by the Federal Government, Ai Group can think of no valid reason why the ALP and Australian Democrats would not support it.  

Should overaward redundancy pay be protected?

The only “entitlement” limited under GEERS in terms of the number of weeks payable is redundancy pay. 

It would not be feasible to introducing an alternative national scheme which fully protects generous 'over-award' redundancy arrangements negotiated at individual enterprises, for the following reasons.

· Any national scheme should have consistent redundancy benefits

Most people would regard it as unfair for a national scheme to pay generous compensation to the employees of one insolvent company and much less to those working for another company. This would be similar to an unemployment benefit scheme that pays an out of work CEO hundreds of thousands of dollars a year and an out of work process worker a tenth of that amount.

Generous over-award redundancy packages tend to operate in large unionised workplaces. However, a much larger number of employees work in other workplaces where such schemes do not operate. 

· Potential for abuse

There would be significant potential for abuse if a scheme paid out on the basis of whatever redundancy arrangements are agreed upon at the enterprise level. What would prevent an employer under industrial duress in the lead up to insolvency agreeing to a redundancy package of six weeks’ per year of service – or six months per year – and leaving the tax-payer to pick up the tab?

· Eight weeks is the recognised community standard

At this point, the recognised community standard for redundancy pay is eight weeks. The standard is now reflected in most federal awards and was adopted by the Australian industrial Relations Commission (AIRC) in a decision which awarded severance pay to the employees of One Tel after it collapsed. For every example of a large unionised workplace with more generous provisions, there are many more examples of companies – large and small – adhering to the accepted community standard of eight weeks. 

Any scheme providing higher benefits would undoubtedly fuel claims for all companies to provide at least that higher level of benefits. The added costs could be disastrous for many businesses. The eight week ceiling on redundancy pay is a logical cut off point for any national scheme.

· Redundancy pay is a contingent liability

Redundancy pay is different to annual leave and long service leave. Unlike these latter two benefits, employees are only entitled to redundancy pay if their jobs are no longer required. It is a contingent liability. This is why companies are not generally required to make a provision for it in their accounts.

· The intention of the negotiators of generous redundancy agreements

Insolvency would not cross the minds of most managers and union officials when negotiating generous redundancy packages. The focus of management is on preserving and growing the business and union officials are usually focussed on deterring companies from making hasty decisions to shed staff. Redundancy packages are typically negotiated when a business needs to adjust staffing levels to remain efficient and competitive. The idea that every employee would some day become entitled to the package would not be contemplated or intended. It does not follow that these redundancy packages should apply if a business becomes insolvent. Insolvency is a totally different context.

· Eight weeks’ pay cushions the blow

Business failures are hard on both employers and employees. The provision of up to eight weeks’ redundancy pay cushions the blow for employees and enables employees to search for another job over a reasonable period without experiencing hardship. 

Maximum priority for employee entitlements

Our understanding of the Federal Government’s maximum priority proposal is that:

· The entitlements covered by GEERS would be subject to the proposed new priority, with the exception of redundancy entitlements; and

· Small businesses (to be defined) would not be covered.

We have significant concerns about the proposal for the following reasons:

· Banks would almost certainly increase interest rates for business loans as a result, particularly for those loans assessed as being of higher risk.
· Some businesses may find that they are unable to obtain a loan under the new arrangements because of their risk profile. Without access to finance many such companies would have no option other than to cease trading.

· Banks would most likely subject companies to far more financial scrutiny before entering into loans, which would impose additional administrative costs on organisations.

· Banks may respond to the change in the priority of employees’ entitlements by seeking security for loans over the personal assets of Proprietors and Directors. This in turn, may stifle entrepreneurship.
· The impact would be greater on companies with labour intensive operations (eg. Those in the clothing and footwear industries) because such companies typically have a higher level of accrued entitlements.

· The impact would be greater on companies which employ long-serving full-time staff (eg. Those in the manufacturing industry) rather than those employing mainly short-term and/or casual staff. 

· It would drive further casualisation of the workforce which would not be in the National interest.

· Companies would be more reluctant to enter into new loans (given the arrangements which the banks would insist upon) which would negatively impact upon investment levels.

In 2000, the Productivity Commission expressed these cautionary words about changing the priorities which currently apply upon insolvency:

“An insolvency regime cannot fully protect the interests of all parties. Insolvency only occurs when some groups must be losers, and its prime intent is to create incentives for prudence among business owners and for a willingness to provide funds. If nothing else, that suggests caution in switching its objectives to other stakeholders, including employees”
.

The proposal would do nothing to increase the security of employees’ entitlements because the entitlements concerned are fully protected by the laws and other arrangements in place and, in default, by GEERS. The proposal appears to be designed entirely to reduce the amount that would otherwise be payable under GEERS. Ai Group questions the necessity of the proposal, given all of the risks involved, when we have seen no evidence that the funding arrangements for GEERS are under pressure. Ai Group has not detected any significant increase in the number of companies becoming insolvent since GEERS was introduced in September 2001.

The proposal, if implemented, would appear to place Australian employers in an uncompetitive position compared to other countries. Ai Group understands that there are very few countries which place employees’ entitlements ahead of secured creditors upon insolvency. 

If the Government decides to proceed with the proposal despite the significant concerns which Ai Group has expressed, we submit that small businesses should be excluded from the amended priority. Small businesses are particularly vulnerable because of their lack of bargaining power in negotiations with banks. They would feel the full effects of any resultant increase in interest rates or any tightening of access to finance.

If the Government proceeds, an appropriate definition for “small business” would be an amended version of that which appears in the Corporations Act. That is, a “small business” would be one which meets any of the following characteristics:

1. Up to 50 employees (or full-time-equivalent);

2. Up to $5 million in gross assets;

3. Up to $10 million in gross operating revenue.

Superannuation

We note that the Superannuation Guarantee legislation was recently amended to require contributions to be made at least quarterly, rather than annually as was previously the case. 

The clear purpose of this amendment was to improve compliance. Such amendment should significantly increase the security of employees’ superannuation entitlements. We are not convinced that further mechanisms are needed.
Ai Group appreciates being given the opportunity to comment on the Committee’s issues paper. Should you have any queries about our submission, please contact Stephen Smith, Director – National Industrial Relations of Ai Group on 02 9466 5521 or 0418 461183.

Yours sincerely 
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